STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

 ORIGINAL

Appeal from Richland County  
R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED  
APR 10 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL SCOTT SIMMONS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001975

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Is the statute criminalizing sexual exploitation of a minor unconstitutionally overbroad in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution because it is not limited to “visual representations” of *actual* minors or obscenity, and therefore, it has a chilling effect on constitutionally protected speech?

II. Did the trial judge err in finding defense counsel opened the door to unfairly prejudicial character evidence of child pornography videos contained on an external hard drive that were not the subject of the charged offenses where none of the questions on cross-examination elicited testimony concerning the investigator’s examination of the external hard drive and where the solicitor had agreed to permit the jury to know that an external hard drive was seized and had done so through the questioning of the witness during direct examination?

III. Did the trial judge err in failing to suppress evidence seized pursuant to a search warrant because the affidavit in support of the warrant contained only stale information, thus, defeating probable cause as required by the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution?

IV. In violation of Appellant’s right to due process of law, did the trial judge err in failing to instruct the jury regarding third party guilt where evidence was presented of third party guilt, the jury required instructions regarding how to analyze such evidence, and instructions were necessary to ensure the burden of proof remained on the state in light of the presentation of third party guilt evidence?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 8, 2014, a Richland County grand jury indicted Appellant for one count of sexual exploitation of a minor in the second degree (2014-GS-40-6677). R. 532-533. Then, on March 16, 2016, a Richland County grand jury indicted Appellant for five counts of sexual exploitation of a minor in the second degree (2016-GS-40-1720, -1721, -1722, -1723, -1724). R. 535-536; R. 538-539; R. 541-542; R. 544-545; R. 547-548. The state, represented by Lloyd V. Flores and Daniel F. Gourley, II, called the case to trial before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon and a jury on September 6-9, 2016. R. 1. Robert Louis Bank, Jr., Alicia D. Goode, and Aimee J. Zmroczek represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 470, ll. 2-21. On September 16, 2016, Judge McMahon sentenced Appellant to ten years' imprisonment on each count. R. 472, l. 17 – R. 473, l. 8; R. 534; R. 537; R. 540; R. 543; R. 546; R. 549. He ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. R. 472, l. 17 – R. 473, l. 8; R. 534; R. 537; R. 540; R. 543; R. 546; R. 549.

On September 20, 2016, Appellant served his notice of intent to appeal. This brief follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 22, 2013, Kevin Murphy with the Berkeley County Sheriff's Office searched via the internet for computers sharing child pornography using a specific hash value associated with child pornography. R. 90, ll. 15-18; R. 103, ll. 14-17. He learned of a computer with the IP address of 66.57.172.240 sharing portions of videos that Murphy considered to be child pornography. R. 103, ll. 18-25; R. 117, l. 1 – R. 118, l. 23; R. 122, l. 8 – R. 123, l. 5. Murphy learned the IP address was assigned to Time Warner Roadrunner Cable. R. 134, ll. 22-25. *Four months later*, Murphy, through the Attorney General's office, requested subscriber information from Time Warner. R. 135, ll. 1-5. Murphy could not explain why he delayed investigating the case. R. 154, ll. 11-24; R. 256, ll. 1-6. According to Time Warner, the subscriber was Wendy Doiron located a specific address in Columbia, outside of Murphy's jurisdiction. R. 135, ll. 8-21. Due to the jurisdictional matter, Murphy referred the case to Brian Hudak with the Columbia Police Department. R. 136, ll. 3-9; R. 162, l. 22 – R. 163, l. 19; R. 164, ll. 4-6.

*Months later*, in June of 2014, Hudak's coworkers executed a search warrant on the address provided by Time Warner. R. 164, ll. 7-12; R. 170, ll. 4-6. Hudak explained the delay in investigating the referral from Murphy was "due to a high case load" and working cases "that were deemed higher priority." R. 164, ll. 13-21. During the execution of the search warrant, Stephan Narewski spoke with the Doiron family. R. 170, ll. 7-15. Narewski learned Appellant lived with the Doirons as a guest. R. 171, ll. 5-11; R. 400, ll. 9-25. During the trial, the homeowners, Ron and Wendy Doiron, denied downloading child pornography. R. 231, ll. 14-24; R. 255, l. 24 – R. 256, l. 8.

According to April Merrill, all items capable of storing digital data were seized, except a tablet identified as belonging to the Doirons' autistic son. R. 190, ll. 1-12; R. 195, ll. 14-21. Merrill was forced to admit that photographs taken during the execution of the search warrant showed a laptop in the master bedroom, but the return did not show its seizure. R. 204, ll. 1-9. Additionally, the photos showed other items such as an iPhone, and SD card that were not seized. R. 205, ll. 1-9; R. 205, l. 21 – R. 206, l. 17. According to the homeowner, the police seized all digital media items except an iPad, a phone, and a computer. R. 177, ll. 1-18.

After executing the search warrant, Narewski left his contact information with the Doirons for Appellant to contact him. R. 171, ll. 15-16. Later that day, Appellant called Narewski and agreed to provide a statement. R. 171, ll. 16-17; R. 180, ll. 16-24. Appellant denied downloading any illegal videos. R. 177, l. 25 – R. 178, l. 1. However, he admitted he had “a bit torrent that [he] use[d] to download music and Blu-ray movies.” R. 178, ll. 1-3. Appellant testified at the trial consistent with his statement to police.

Appellant explained that he moved to Columbia when he was stationed at Fort Jackson. R. 400, ll. 9-11. He lived next door to the Doirons. R. 400, ll. 9-11. In the spring of 2013, he moved in with them. R. 400, ll. 12-17. Appellant admitted ownership of the desktop, external hard drive, iPhone, and laptop that were found in the room he occupied. R. 401, ll. 9-14. He had had the devices for several years and in numerous locations. R. 401, l. 15 – R. 402, l. 10. Many people had had access to the devices over the years, including friends and family. R. 402, ll. 11-16. Appellant's computer was not password protected. R. 404, ll. 12-24. The desktop was set up in Appellant's room in the Doirons' home, and he permitted others in the house to use it. R. 405, l. 22 – R. 406, l. 1. Appellant recalled Kyle Doiron, the Doirons' teenage son, using his computer often, particularly to watch videos. R. 406, ll. 2-14. Contrary to Kyle's testimony,

Appellant explained that he was not always present when Kyle used his computer. R. 407, ll. 12-20. Appellant denied downloading child pornography, searching for child pornography, or sharing child pornography through a file sharing program.. R. 410, l. 18 – R. 411, l. 18

Jon VanHouten, the forensic computer examiner, conducted “forensic previews” of the seized devices, but he was unable to examine the tablets seized from Kyle’s room due to age or password protection. R. 272, l. 25 – R. 273, l. 2. VanHouten conducted a “full forensic examination” on the computer found in Appellant’s bedroom because the chief investigator requested VanHouten “focus” on the computer. R. 273, ll. 11-15; R. 275, ll. 15-20. VanHouten found no videos or pictures of minors engaged in sexual activity on the computer. R. 275, ll. 9-14. Importantly, VanHouten found no evidence of the child pornography Murphy claimed he obtained through the file sharing program during the initial stage of the investigation. R. 275, l. 21 – R. 276, l. 11. Nevertheless, in the “system volume information” containing internet search history, VanHouten found terms he believed were associated with child pornography. R. 277, ll. 21-22; R. 280, ll. 10-18; R. 281, ll. 20-24; R. 287, ll. 15-18.

In November 2013, seventeen-year old Kyle Doiron lived at home with his father, Ron, and stepmother, Wendy, which was the home where Appellant resided as well. R. 234, ll. 9-10; R. 235, ll. 5-8; R. 400, ll. 12-25. During the execution of the search warrant, the police seized two tablets from Kyle’s bedroom. R. 235, ll. 14-25. Additionally, the police seized a USB drive from his room. R. 236, ll. 8-10. Kyle found the USB drive while walking home from school one day and kept it. R. 236, ll. 11-14. He was unable to remember what was on the drive. R. 236, ll. 11-12. Kyle admitted to using Appellant’s computer, but claimed he used it only once and that Appellant was present. R. 236, l. 24 – R. 237, l. 21. Although familiar with file sharing, Kyle claimed he never engaged in any file sharing activity. R. 239, ll. 19-20. Kyle denied using any

digital device to access child pornography. R. 239, l. 24 – R. 240, l. 4. Kyle claimed he had never received “anything from [his] classmates that might be considered material of individuals engaging in sexual activity.” R. 240, ll. 12-15.

On cross examination, Kyle was forced to admit that he got in trouble at school for downloading and sharing illegal movies. R. 244, ll. 11-18. Kyle received the illegal movies on a flash drive and downloaded it to his school computer. R. 244, ll. 11-18. He then used the school’s file sharing program to share the videos. R. 244, ll. 11-18. Although Kyle initially denied ever downloading any pornography, he eventually admitting to downloading and viewing pornography as well. R. 246, ll. 5-13; R. 249, ll. 10-16; R. 250, ll. 2-15.

## ARGUMENT

I. The statute criminalizing sexual exploitation of a minor in the second degree is unconstitutionally overbroad in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution because it is not limited to “visual representations” of actual minors or obscenity, and therefore, it has a chilling effect on constitutionally protected speech.

### **Relevant facts**

Prior to trial, Appellant moved to dismiss the charges against him because the criminal statute pursuant to which he was charged was unconstitutionally overbroad in violation of the First Amendment to the Constitution. R. 10, ll. 18-23; Supp. R. 1-14. Relying upon Ashcroft v. Free Speech Coalition, 535 U.S. 234 (2001), Appellant argued the state statute was virtually indistinguishable from the federal statute found to be unconstitutional. R. 11, ll. 5-9; Supp. R. 1-14. While the federal statute prohibited “depictions” of minors, the South Carolina statute criminalized “representations” of minors. R. 11, l. 10 – R. 12, l. 21; Supp. R. 1-14. The overly broad language of the statute criminalized possession of images beyond child pornography. R. 12, ll. 2-7; Supp. R. 1-14. Defense counsel explained the problem with the statute was that it criminalized a representation of a minor – the statute did not require the representation to be of an actual minor. R. 21, ll. 6-15; Supp. R. 1-14.

The state sought to distinguish the Ashcroft decision by noting the images at issue in that case “were produced without any real children.” R. 16, ll. 1-17. Additionally, the state relied upon the state statute defining a minor for purposes of the criminal offense. R. 17, ll. 8-10. According to the state, the main difference between the federal and the state statutes was the state statutes made “it clear that minors are individuals who are less than eighteen years of age.” R. 17, ll. 11-14. Finally, the state argued it would be for the jury to determine the ages of the individuals represented in the images. R. 18, l. 23 – R. 19, l. 5. The state planned to rely upon a “permissible inference” found within the statute allowing the trier of fact to infer age from the

“title, text, visual representations, or otherwise.” R. 19, ll. 6-15. Appellant countered that the statutory permissive inference “encourage[d] the jury...to find [Appellant] guilty of conduct that Ashcroft declared could not be criminalized.” R. 21, ll. 16-20.

Judge McMahon denied the motion to declare the statute unconstitutional. R. 74, ll. 16-21. He “believe[d]” the South Carolina statute was “not the type of class that is created that Ashcroft addressed.” R. 74, ll. 21-24.

### **Discussion**

The First Amendment, made applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment, prohibits governments from making any law abridging the freedom of speech. U.S. Const. amend I. “[T]he overbreadth doctrine applies only to First Amendment cases where the challenged law would have a ‘chilling effect’ on constitutionally protected forms of speech.” State v. Bouye, 325 S.C. 260, 265, 484 S.E.2d 461, 464 (1997)(internal quotation omitted)(alteration in original). “It has long been recognized that the First Amendment needs breathing space and that statutes attempting to restrict or burden the exercise of First Amendment rights must be narrowly drawn and represent a considered legislative judgment that a particular mode of expression has to give way to other compelling needs of society.” State v. Green, 397 S.C. 268, 276, 724 S.E.2d 664, 668 (2012)(quoting Broadrick v. Oklahoma, 413 U.S. 601, 611-612 (1973)).

The overbreadth doctrine “is predicated on the sensitive nature of protected expression: persons whose expression is constitutionally protected may well refrain from exercising their rights for fear of criminal sanctions by a statute susceptible of application to protected expression.” New York v. Ferber, 458 U.S. 747, 768 (1982). “[F]or this reason,” the Court permits “persons to attack overly broad statutes even though the conduct of the person making

the attack is clearly unprotected and could be proscribed by a law drawn with requisite specificity.” Id. at 769. “[A] statute is facially invalid if it prohibits a substantial amount of protected speech.” United States v. Williams, 553 U.S. 285, 292 (2008).

The doctrine seeks to strike a balance between competing social costs. On the one hand, the threat of enforcement of an overbroad law deters people from engaging in constitutionally protected speech. On the other hand, invalidating a law that in some of its applications is perfectly constitutional – particularly a law directed at conduct so antisocial that it has been made criminal – has obvious harmful effects.

Id. at 292-293.

“States have a legitimate interest in prohibiting dissemination or exhibition of obscene material when the mode of dissemination carries with it a significant danger of offending the sensibilities of unwilling recipients or of exposure to juveniles.” Miller v. California, 413 U.S. 15, 18-19 (1973). However, “in the area of freedom of speech and press the courts must always remain sensitive to any infringement on genuinely serious literary, artistic, political, or scientific expression.” Id. at 22-23. “[O]bscene material is unprotected by the First Amendment.” Id. at 23. Nevertheless, there are “inherent dangers of undertaking to regulate any form of expression.” Id. Therefore, “State statutes designed to regulate obscene materials must be carefully limited.” Id. at 23-24. The Court “confine[d] the permissible scope of such regulation to works which depict or describe sexual conduct.” Id. at 24. The question is whether the state statute “is narrowly tailored to achieve the interest for which it was intended.” Green, 397 S.C. at 278, 724 S.E.2d at 668.

The Court provided “[t]he basic guidelines for the trier of fact” concerning obscenity: “(a) whether the average person, applying contemporary standards would find that the work, taken as a whole, appears to prurient interest,” “(b) whether the work depicts or describes, in a patently offensive way, sexual conduct specifically defined by the applicable state law; and (c)

whether the work, taken as a whole, lacks serious literary, artistic, political, or scientific value.” Miller, 413 U.S. at 24. “The Miller standard” provides “an accommodation between the State’s interests in protecting the sensibilities of unwilling recipients from exposure to pornographic material and the dangers of censorship inherent in unabashedly content-based laws.” Ferber, 458 U.S. at 756 (internal quotation omitted).

The Court held that states “are entitled to greater leeway in the regulation of pornographic depictions of children,” however. Id. A state’s interest in protecting the physical and psychological well-being of a child is compelling. Id. at 756-757. “The prevention of sexual exploitation and abuse of children constitutes a government objective of surpassing importance.” Id. at 757. After analyzing the Miller test against the ills accompanying child pornography, the Court concluded the Miller standard was not a “satisfactory solution to the child pornography problem.” Id. at 761. Ultimately, the Court determined child pornography was “without the protection of the First Amendment.” Id. at 764. Nevertheless, “like obscenity,” there are “limits on the category of child pornography” that “is unprotected by the First Amendment.” Id. According to the Court, “the conduct to be prohibited must be adequately defined by the applicable state law, as written or authoritatively construed.” Id. “[T]he nature of the harm to be combated requires that the state offense be limited to works that *visually* depict sexual conduct by children below a specified age.” Id. (emphasis in original).

The United States Supreme Court held the federal statute at issue in Ashcroft was “a textbook example of why” the Court “permit[s] facial challenges to statutes that burden expression.” Ashcroft, 535 U.S. at 244. “The Constitution gives significant protection from overbroad laws that chill speech within the First Amendment’s vast and privileged sphere.” Id. Although governments “may pass valid laws to protection children from abuse,” “[t]he prospect

of crime ... by itself does not justify laws suppressing protected speech.” Id. at 245. “It is ... well established that speech may not be prohibited because it concerns subjects offending our sensibilities.” Id. “As a general principle, the First Amendment bars the government from dictating what we see or read or speak or hear.” Id. Nevertheless, freedom of speech “does not embrace” “defamation, incitement, obscenity, and pornography produced with real children.” Id. at 245-246.

The Ashcroft Court explained the federal statute at issue criminalized images that *appeared* to show a minor engaging in sexually explicit activity without any regard to the obscenity requirements established in Miller. Id. at 246. Specifically, the statute prohibited “any visual depiction, including any photograph, film, video, picture, or computer or computer-generated image or picture that is, or appears to be, of a minor engaging in sexually explicit conduct.” Id. at 240 (internal quotation omitted).

The prohibition on “any visual depiction” does not depend at all on how the image is produced. The section captures a range of depictions, sometimes called “virtual child pornography,” which include computer-generated images, as well as images produced by more traditional means. For instance, the literal terms of the statute embrace a Renaissance painting depicting a scene from classical mythology, a “picture” that “appears to be, of a minor engaging in sexually explicit conduct.” The statute also prohibits Hollywood movies, filmed without any child actors, if a jury believes an actor “appears to be” a minor engaging in “actual or simulated ... sexual intercourse.”

Id. at 241 (quoting 18 U.S.C. 2256(2)).

Under the federal statute, “[t]he materials need not appeal to the prurient interest. Any depiction of sexually explicit activity, no matter how it is presented is proscribed.” Id. at 246. The prohibition applied “to a picture in a psychology manual, as well as a movie depicting the horrors of sexual abuse.” Id. The statute did not require “the image be patently offensive.” Id. In fact, the statute prohibited “speech despite its serious literary, artistic, political, or scientific

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