ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2016-001975

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Michael Scott Simmons,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
APR 11 2018
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2016-001975

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

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

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); State v. Butler, 353 S.C. 383, 388, 577 S.E.2d 498, 500 (Ct. App. 2003). "A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice." State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). "The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). "Whether a person opens the door to the admission of otherwise inadmissible evidence during the course of a trial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge." State v. Page, 378 S.C. 476, 483, 663 S.E.2d 357, 360 (Ct.

App. 2008). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id. “Prejudice occurs when there is reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury's verdict.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011).

Analysis

Prior to trial, Appellant moved to suppress evidence of child pornography videos found on an external hard drive for which he was not specifically charged. In total, the State found eight videos of child pornography on the hard drive which was found in Appellant's room. The trial court excluded the evidence. (T.74-75; 83-84; 106; R.34-35; 43-44; 66).

After Appellant's counsel questioned the computer forensic investigator regarding his findings, the trial court allowed in details regarding the investigator's findings on the external hard drive found in Appellant's room. The trial court properly admitted testimony regarding the external hard drive and the child pornography found on the hard drive. Appellant opened the door to the testimony, whether admissible or inadmissible, because he categorized the external hard drive as a “focused” item and implied through his questioning that nothing significant was found on the hard drive.

“When a party introduces evidence about a particular matter, the other party is entitled to introduce evidence in explanation or rebuttal thereof, even if the latter evidence would have been incompetent or irrelevant had it been offered initially.” State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 137, 731 S.E.2d 604, 610 (Ct. App. 2012). When a party opens the door to evidence, he cannot complain of prejudice resulting from its admission. See State v. Robinson, 305 S.C. 469, 474, 409 S.E.2d 404, 408 (1991); see also, Page, 378 S.C. at 482, 663 S.E.2d at 360 (“It is firmly established that otherwise inadmissible evidence may be properly admitted when opposing

counsel opens the door to that evidence.”); State v. Beam, 336 S.C. 45, 53, 518 S.E.2d 297, 301 (Ct. App. 1999) (“A party may not complain of error caused by his own conduct.”).

In the instant case, Appellant’s counsel began his questioning of the State’s computer forensic investigator, Investigator VanHouten, by separating the items he received to examine into two categories: those he focused on and then “non-focus” items. (T.361; R.307). Counsel asked him if VanHouten was asked to “focus on” the items recovered from Appellant’s room, which would include the computer and external hard drive. (T.362; R.308). Appellant’s counsel indicated all the items seized and presented to VanHouten for analysis, including listing the external hard drive at issue. (T.362-363; R.308-309). Counsel then went through the items in the “non-focus” category. He made a chart of the “non-focus items,” explaining and describing each item. (T.365-367; R.311-313). He made it clear to the jury only one of the external hard drives was on the “non-focused” list:

Q. All right, bear with me. I’ve only got two more categories. Go to the external hard drive, and there’s one of those on this sheet?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Of the non-focused items?

A. Non-focused, yes.

(T.367; R.313).

Appellant’s counsel then begins the discussion of how the examinations of the various items were conducted. He notes again for the jury that VanHouten was told to focus on certain items and not others, after the jury has been made well aware that one of the external hard drives is in Appellant’s “focused” category. (T.370; R.316). Counsel discusses how VanHouten does “previews” of every item, and unless something is found on a “non-focused” item a quick

preview is where it stops. Counsel specifically differentiates the previews done on “non-focused” from the full examinations conducted on “focused” items, including the external hard drive. After discussing the process of a preview the following colloquy occurs:

- Q. And if the process ends there, that’s what we characterize as not doing a full forensic examination?
- A. That is correct.
- Q. And I believe on direct examination, you said there were no full examinations done on these items, the non-focus items?
- A. No full examination. However, some images were obtained.
- Q. Okay. How, sometimes if you do a preview and you don’t see anything, any low-hanging fruit, you said something that - - along the lines of you might still go further and do the full forensic exam if it’s a focus item?
- A. If it’s, if it’s a focus item, if, if I’ve been told when the evidence is submitted to me, if I’ve been told this is what we need to look at, then I will go ahead and start a full focus examination on that.

(T.372-373; R.318-319).

Counsel then has VanHouten “briefly move to the desktop that was one of the focus items.” (T.374; R.320). They then discuss some of the findings on the computer, including the fact the videos downloaded by Detective Murphy were not found and no other child pornography videos were found on the desktop. (T.375; R.319).

Counsel, by his questioning, implied to the jury that full examinations were done on all four items in the “focused” category, and that the only things found relevant to this case were on the desktop. The reality is that significantly relevant files, other examples of child pornography downloaded by Appellant and stored on an external hard drive in his room, were located on the

external hard drive listed as a “focused” item.² The State was properly allowed to explain that a full examination of the hard drive was conducted and something was actually found—child pornography videos.

The implication that nothing was found on the “focused” hard drive was heightened by Counsel’s continued questioning when he immediately shifted gears back to the “non-focused” hard drive and discussed the fact a full examination was not conducted on that hard drive:

Q. Okay, but on the external hard drive, you didn’t review every file and folder that was on that hard drive?

A. I viewed the, the logical stuff, the stuff that you could see. I did a quick preview of what, what was on there.

Q. Sure. So - - -

A. But nothing, nothing relevant, I would say. No, no CP reference or deleted folders - - or, I’m sorry, deleted photos or type deal.

Q. Well, now, if it had been deemed by whatever law enforcement agency to be one of the focus items, could you have done more to review it?

A. Oh, absolutely.

(T.377-378; R.323-324). Counsel’s questioning regarding the “non-focused” hard drive immediately after talking about the “focused” items could have confused the jury regarding which hard drive was being discussed, or again raised the implication that a full exam was conducted on the “focused” hard drive and nothing was found. Either confusion or the improper implication needed to be clarified by the State in presenting its case and, therefore, opened the door to the admission of the evidence. Even if the testimony regarding the files found on the

² The probative value of the items found on the external hard drive was significantly greater by the time of this testimony in light of the defense’s constant questioning regarding whether others had access to the computer and whether any of the law enforcement individuals could establish who was using the computer at the time of the child pornography searches and downloads. This probative value will be discussed further.

external hard drive were otherwise inadmissible, Appellant, through his questioning of VanHouten, opened the door to the State being able to explain to the jury that a full examination of the hard drive was made and that highly relevant and probative files were found so that the jury was not left with the inference that the only files found on any of the items searched were found on the desktop computer.

Further, cross-examination conducted by Appellant's counsels prior to the admission of the testimony regarding the files located on the external hard drive increased the probative value of the hard drive such that it no longer constituted inadmissible testimony. "Relevant evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Rule 401, SCRE. "Under Rule 401, evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy." See e.g., In re Care and Treatment of Corley, 353 S.C. 202, 205, 577 S.E.2d 451, 453 (2003). "Evidence which assists a jury at arriving at the truth of an issue is relevant and admissible unless otherwise incompetent." State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 403 (1986).

Rule 403, SCRE, states: "Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice" "Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis." State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting United States v. Bonds, 12 F.3d 540, 567 (6th Cir.1993)); see also, State v. Dickerson, 341 S.C. 391, 400, 535 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2000); United States v. Rodriguez-Estrada, 877 F.2d 153, 156 (1st Cir.1989) ("[A]ll evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be avoided.").

Generally, evidence of prior bad acts is inadmissible to prove the specific crime charged; however, an exception exists for evidence tending to establish (1) motive, (2) intent, (3) the absence of mistake or accident, (4) a common scheme or plan embracing the commission of two or more crimes so related to each other that proof of one tends to establish the other, or (5) the identity of the person charged with the present crime. See Rule 404(b), SCRE; State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 416, 118 S.E. 803, 807 (1923). Specifically, evidence of a subsequent or other bad act can be probative evidence to establish the identity of the perpetrator, especially when identity is at issue during trial. See e.g., State v. Stokes, 381 S.C. 390, 405, 673 S.E.2d 434, 441 (2009) (finding other bad act evidence, which connected the defendant to a gun used in a burglary, “highly probative on the issue of the identity” when an identification could not be made by victims).

One of the items seized in the search of Appellant’s room was an external hard drive. Investigator VanHouten located eight videos of child pornography on the external hard drive during his forensic examination. (T.397; R.343). Also on the hard drive was a photo of Appellant and a bill from Certified Recovery Service to Michael and Melanie Simmons, connecting him to the use of the external hard drive. (T.401-402; State’s Exhibit 24; R.347-348). The child pornography found on the external hard drive was in the recycle bin, indicating Appellant attempted to delete the files after they were transferred to the hard drive from a computer.

In the instant case, the trial court made a pre-trial determination not to allow the evidence found on the external hard drive. However, as trial progressed, Appellant’s defense theory that the State could not establish the identity of the person who uploaded the videos became clear. As a result of this theory being advanced, the external hard drive containing both child pornography

and other files connected to Appellant became highly probative by the time it was admitted by the trial court.

Appellant's counsel asserted in her opening statement:

[T] he state's going to tell you they looked at all the items. You'll see what the proof will show is they didn't, and that's concerning. There's no password protected. There's no Internet chats. **There's nothing, nothing to connect Michael Simmons to these six videos, nothing that can reach beyond a reasonable doubt. Nothing, nothing that can put him in front of a computer disseminating porn.**

(T.135-136; R.88-89) (emphasis added). She began the trial asserting the State could not connect Appellant to the computer or the videos. As a result, the probative value of the external hard drive and its contents significantly increased to show identity.

The probative value of the hard drive increased more after the cross-examination of Detective Kevin Murphy. Appellant asked a series of questions to confirm Detective Murphy could not specifically identify who uploaded the child pornography. He admitted he did not know the specific device from which he downloaded the videos. Further, he indicated he did not have a screen name associated with the downloads which could be traced to any individual. He was specifically asked: "Can you tell these jurors who trans - - who uploaded these videos?" He responded: "No. No." (T.203; R.156). On re-cross, Appellant's counsel continued to assert the videos could have been uploaded from anywhere and not just Appellant's computer:

Q. And the ISP address - - excuse me, the IP address, that was just for the house. So, any device in that house?

A. That's correct.

Q. Or anybody connected to that IP address outside of that house?

A. That's correct.

(T.206-207; R.159-160).

Throughout the cross-examination of Kyle Doiron, Appellant's counsel sought to show Kyle had access to Appellant's computer, was left home alone, and even used Appellant's computer. (T.291-298; R.241-248). Appellant even examined Kyle regarding files he shared using his school's file sharing program for which he got in trouble in order to demonstrate his knowledge of file sharing and imply he could have been the one downloading and uploading child pornography. (T.294-295; R.244-245). Finally, Kyle admitted on re-cross that he used a device to look up pornography. (T.300; R.250). Kyle's activities were also the subject of the cross-examination of Kyle's step-mother. (T.308-309; R.258-259).

Finally, in her cross-examination of Investigator VanHouten, Appellant again continued to raise the issue of identity through her questioning:

- Q. Meaning that all the times that we see, we don't know if they're accurate or not accurate?
- A. Right. In this particular instance, I cannot definitively say if something was accessed on a particular date and time.
- Q. And one thing that you're unable to tell us is who actually had access -- not access but who was actually using the computer at the times we see activity, right?
- A. That is correct. I cannot determine who, who was using the computer what particular time.

(T.375; R321).

Because Appellant clearly placed the identity of the individual downloading and uploading the child pornography into issue, the external hard drive found in Appellant's room containing child pornography and other files directly tying it to Appellant became incredibly probative compared to how it was considered by the trial court prior to trial. The probative value to provide evidence to the jury tying Appellant to child pornography was extensive and was

definitely not significantly outweighed by any prejudice caused by its introduction. As a result, the trial court did not err in admitting the external hard drive based on its extensive probative value and the fact it satisfied both Rule 403 and Rule 404.

Finally, in light of the other evidence presented at trial connecting Appellant to the searches for, downloading of, and sharing of child pornography, any error in admitting the findings on the hard drive were entirely harmless. See State v. Garner, 304 S.C. 220, 222, 403 S.E.2d 631, 632 (1991) (holding improperly admitted evidence was harmless error given the overwhelming evidence of guilt).

III. The trial court did not err in refusing to suppress evidence seized pursuant to a properly issued warrant. The information in the affidavit was not stale, especially in light of the fact it involved digital evidence which can still exist even after a person has attempted to delete it.

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